1978

J.O. Kingston v. Great Southwest Fire Insurance Company, A Corporation: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by the named insured against the insurance company on a policy of fire insurance covering a warehouse building which was damaged by fire.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was submitted to the trial court by way of stipulation as to the material facts. From a judgment in favor of the defendant, the plaintiff appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in his favor as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant, Great Southwest Fire Insurance Company, issued fire insurance policy #F442655, dated May 10, 1975, naming Plaintiff, J. O. Kingston, as the insured, and covering a warehouse building located at approximately 875 South 800 West, Salt Lake City, Utah (Exhibit "B"). In September, 1975, during the term of effective coverage under the insurance policy, the building burned, causing damage thereto in excess of \$20,000.00, the limits of coverage under the policy (Tr. 2-3).

On July 3, 1975, prior to the fire, Salt Lake City Corporation filed a complaint in condemnation, seeking to condemn the parcel of property upon which the insured building was located, in order that a Senior Citizens' Center could be constructed thereon. On August 12, 1975, still prior to the fire, the city was granted an Order of Immediate Occupancy with respect to the property sought to be condemned. Despite the order of immediate occupancy, J. O. Kingston was still in actual possession of the building and was using it as a warehouse for his merchandise when the fire occurred. The condemnation action was contested and the final order of condemnation vesting legal title to the property in Salt Lake City Corporation, was not signed until May, 1976, eight months after the building had been burned (Tr. 2-3 and Exhibit "A").

During the pendency of the condemnation action, J. O. Kingston commenced this action against Great Southwest Fire Insurance Company, seeking recovery under the terms of the insurance contract (R. 2-3). The trial court found that J. O. Kingston did not have an insurable interest in the warehouse building at the date it burned, and therefore, denied recovery (R. 91-92).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF HAD NO INSURABLE INTEREST IN THE INSURED BUILDING AT THE TIME OF THE FIRE.

The basis for the ruling in the court below was that the plaintiff had no insurable interest in the insured property at the time of the loss, as a result of the condemnation activity of Salt Lake City Corporation. Section 31-19-4, U.C.A. (1953), provides as follows:

"(1) No contract of insurance on property or of any interest therein or arising therefrom, shall be enforceable except for the benefit of persons having an insurable interest in the things insured.

(2) 'Insurable interest' as used in this section means any lawful and substantial economic interest in the safety or preservation of the subject of the insurance free from loss, destruction, or pecuniary damage."

In determining whether or not an insurable interest exists in a particular case, the courts have generally adopted a liberal view

in order to uphold the enforceability of the insurance contract.

In the case of Hill v. Safeco Insurance Company, 22 P.3d 96, 448 P.2d 915 (1969), this Court stated:

"Any interest in property, legal or equitable, qualified conditional, contingent or absolute, or merely the right to use property with or without payment of rent, is sufficient to create 'insurable interest'."

In the Hill case, the named insured under a policy of insurance had deeded the property covered (his house) to his wife. The wife and the named insured each had children from a previous marriage, and the wife disinherited her husband and her husband's children by will, leaving her assets to her own children. As it happened, the house burned down, killing both the named insured and his wife in the process, and the named insured's children sought recovery from the insurance company on the policy of insurance. The insurance company defended the claim, alleging that the named insured had no insurable interest in the property at the time it burned, since he had given up legal title to his wife, who had in turn bequeathed the property to her own children. The Court rejected the insurance company's argument, holding that where the husband had purchased the property, paid the insurance premium, lived in the house for several years, paid the taxes, and had the right of occupancy, he had an insurable interest therein, and his heirs were awarded recovery on the policy of insurance.

The case of Stewart v. Commerce Insurance Company

Glen Falls, N. Y., 114 Ut. 278, 198 P. 2d 467, was one involving automobile insurance, but one of the issues was whether or not the claimants had an insurable interest in the vehicle at the time it was damaged. The automobile was owned and insured by a gentleman who died leaving six heirs. The automobile passed to the heirs, who decided to sell it. One of the heirs located a buyer and sold the car for a price to be determined in accordance with the O. P. A. regulations then in effect. The buyer gave the heir \$400.00 for the car, took possession of the vehicle, the title and registration certificates, and started towards Logan, Utah, where he was to determine the official O. P. A. price and arrange to have the title and registration properly transferred. In route to Logan, the buyer ran off the road, causing extensive damage to the car, and the insured's estate sued to recover under the insurance policy. The Court rejected the insurance company's defense that the estate lacked an insurable interest in the car at the time it was damaged, stating:

"***it is apparent that no valid sale was completed. If such is the case the fact that an abortive attempt was made, would not relieve the defendant from liability under the policy, as the estate would have an insurable interest in the car until such time as a completed sale was effectuated."

National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Company

v. Thompson, 4 Ut. 2d 7, 286 P. 2d 249 (1955), was another case where this Court was asked to determine whether or not an insurable interest

existed in the named insured. In that case, Thompson had sold his farm to one Hardy. Hardy had taken possession of the farm, except for one building, which Thompson continued to occupy with Hardy's permission for storage of machinery and equipment. Thompson continued to occupy the building up to and including the date it was destroyed by fire. In upholding a jury's finding that Thompson retained an insurable interest in the building even though it had been sold to another, the Court made the following pertinent comments:

"*** if he has an interest of any character in the property so that he will or may derive some pecuniary benefit from the continued existence of the property or suffer pecuniary loss from its destruction by fire, he may properly be said to meet the statutory requirement of having a 'substantial economic interest'. If this test is met, that suffices, and the nature of his interest or the status of title or possession is immaterial."

The Court went on to say:

"It is not disputed that Thompson did retain possession of the building, that his machinery was stored therein, and that he had never turned the keys over to Mr. Hardy."

The Court also pointed out that there was some testimony that Thompson had obligated himself to be responsible for the building during his possession and that the owner expected to be paid for the occupancy. The Court ruled that upon such facts, Thompson had an insurable interest in the property, and that the insurance company should pay on the contract of insurance.

Several cases from other jurisdictions support the principle

position that he is entitled to recover in this case, holding that as long as the property owner retains either legal title or possession, he has an insurable interest sufficient to allow recovery under the insurance contract. In the case at bar, the plaintiff had both legal title and possession. Among such cases is Irwin v. Westchester Fire Insurance Co., 58 Misc. 441, 109 NYS 612, affd without op 133 App Div 920, 118 NYS 1115, affd without op 199 NY 550, 93 NE 376, where the court ruled that the plaintiff still had an insurable interest in a frame addition to her house which had burned, even though the addition violated the City Fire Code and had been declared a nuisance and ordered abated by the Court prior to the fire. In this particular case, the City had even commenced demolition of the structure pursuant to the abatement order, at the time it burned. The owner, as in our case, retained possession and occupancy of the condemned portion of the structure, and as she was the legal owner, was declared to have a sufficient interest in the structure to support a recovery under the insurance policy.

An insurable interest was also found to be present in the case of Rosenbloom v. Maryland Insurance Company, 258 App Div 14, 15 NYS 2d 304. There, the property owner contracted on September 23, 1938 to sell his property to the Syracuse Housing Authority for the sum of \$12,600.00. Under the terms of the contract, the Authority had the option for 180 days to acquire the property by condemnation rather than

by purchase. On September 30, 1938, the building on the property was damaged by fire, and the Authority then rescinded the sales contract and condemned the property, paying the property owner the sum of \$12,300. The court declared that the plaintiff's insurable interest at the time of the fire was the full value of the insured building, not just the diminished market value, as determined by the difference between the original sale price and the award in condemnation.

The Illinois Court, in the case of American National Bank & Trust Company of Chicago v. Reserve Insurance Company, 38 Ill. App. 2d 315, 187 NE 2d 343 (1962), also held that the building owner had an insurable interest in a building which burned after condemnation proceedings had commenced, but before the condemnation proceedings were completed. There, the Court said:

"It is the defendant's next contention that recovery should be denied on the grounds that the insured lacked an insurable interest in the premises at the time of the fire. *** The petition was still pending and undisposed of at the time of the fire. A jury subsequently entered a verdict of \$6775.00 in the condemnation proceedings representing the value of the property at the time the petition to condemn was filed. Defendant suggests that the jury's verdict having been affirmed *** title relates back to the date of filing the petition to condemn, upon payment of compensation by the condemning authority.

We think there is no merit to this contention insofar as it is directed to the relevant question of plaintiff's insurable interest on the date of the fire. At that date, the city's petition was pending but had not been acted upon. At the date of the fire there had been no change in the legal title.

to the property, or even a jury verdict in the proceedings by the city. At that stage of the condemnation proceedings the city might have abandoned its petition altogether upon payment of the property owners' expenses in the proceedings, as provided by statute * * *. This being so, it seems clear to us that plaintiff did have an insurable interest in the property on the day of the fire. The fact that the city continued its proceedings against the property after the fire, rather than exercising its statutory prerogative to abandon them, is certainly a fortunate circumstance for the plaintiff, but it is not an event which defendant may seize in an effort to avoid liability on its contract of insurance.

* * * Accordingly, we are of the opinion that the condemnation award received by plaintiff does not limit or bar plaintiff's right to recover in this action."

The Virginia Court reached the same conclusion in the case of Home Insurance Co. v. Dalis, 206 Va. 71, 141 SE 2d 721 (1965). In this case, two barns located on plaintiff's property were insured against fire. On April 22, 1963, the State Highway Commission recorded a certificate describing the road right-of-way and stating the fair market value of the plaintiff's lands located within said right-of-way to be \$113,666.00. Under Virginia law, upon such recording, the title to the property vested in the Commonwealth. The barns were destroyed by fire on April 27, 1963, and on April 29, 1963, the State notified plaintiffs to vacate the barns within 60 days. On September 27, 1963, plaintiffs applied for and obtained an order of the Court, distributing the sum of \$113,666.00, the full amount of the appraised value before the fire, to plaintiffs for the property. The insurance code of Virginia contains the same requirements that recovery can be had under a contract of insurance

on property, only by one having an insurable interest therein, as found in Utah law, and the Virginia code defines "insurable interest" precisely as does Section 31-19-4, U.C.A. (1953), cited above. The Court ruled in the Virginia case, that on the date of the fire, plaintiffs had an insurable interest in the barns sufficient to support the contract of insurance, and that their interest was to be measured by the value of the barns at that date. In rejecting the insurance company's defense that plaintiffs had no insurable interest in the barns on the date of the fire, the Court said:

"Under the provisions of the aforementioned statutes the Commonwealth acquired, upon the filing of the Commissioner's certificate, title to plaintiffs' property, but it was subject to defeasance and other steps were necessary before it could ripen into an absolute and indefeasible title."
* * *

In the present case, the plaintiffs had a lawful and substantial economic interest in the safety of the barns on the date of the loss. They were not only in possession and occupancy of the buildings, in which they had stored valuable materials when the fire occurred, but had the right to continue occupying them for sixty days from April 29, 1963. * * *

Defendant says that plaintiffs would suffer no pecuniary loss by reason of the fire and they are not entitled to recover under the policy of insurance sued on. It argues that to permit them to recover would amount to a double recovery.

In Clements v. Clements, 167 Va 223, 188 SE 154, this Court cited with approval the holding in the case of Hartman v. Pepper, 166 Mass 288, 44 NE 222, 223, 33 LRA 239, 55 Am St Rep 404, wherein it was said: " * * * the contract of insurance is a personal contract, and inures to the benefit of the party with whom it is made, and by whom the premiums are paid. It is a contract of indemnity against loss. The sum paid is in no proper or just sense the price

of property. (Citing cases) * * * Whether the amount of indemnity received by the defendant for her loss was more or less than the value of her interest cannot affect the plaintiff'. 167 Va at p. 233, 188 SE at p. 158.

Here plaintiffs' claim for recovery is based on contract. The risk of destruction at the time the fire occurred remained with the plaintiffs and the insurance contract was personal. They had an insurable interest in the buildings when they were destroyed by fire and they suffered a loss. Defendant cannot escape liability of its contractual obligations by reason of plaintiffs' dealings with a third party who is not even a party to this proceeding. (Citing cases)

In a recent Oregon case, Fenter v. General Acc Fire & Life Assurance Corp., 258 Or. 545, 484 P. 2d 310 (1971), the Court resolved a similar question. In this case, property formerly owned by the plaintiff had been taken by the County for non payment of taxes. An Oregon statute (ORS 312.200) provided that all rights of redemption to properties so taken terminated after one year, at which time, the property would be formally deeded to the County. The one year period for redemption had expired and the property had been so deeded, when the insured building thereon was destroyed by fire. As in Utah, Oregon law (ORS 743.033) requires the named insured to have an insurable interest in the subject property of the insurance contract before recovery is allowed. Even so, the Court ruled that the former owner's pecuniary interest was not too insubstantial to constitute an insurable interest, in view of a statute which provided that the County may, at any time, sell and convey the property to the former owner or his assigns for the delinquent taxes.

Obviously, the County having absolute legal title, also had the right to sell and convey the property to any other person, but the plaintiff was given judgment, nonetheless.

In the case at bar, the plaintiff obviously realized an economic benefit from the continued existence of the insured building which housed his merchandise, and did in fact suffer severe economic loss when it burned down with his possessions inside. Although it may be true that Salt Lake City had the right to require the plaintiff to remove his possessions from the building at any time, until the plaintiff actually did so, either voluntarily or by coercion, he had an economic interest in the building's continued existence, if only as shelter and protection for the merchandise inside. The plaintiff had a right to continue to protect that interest, which is clearly insurable under the case law cited, and the defendant has never offered to return any part of the premium paid by the plaintiff as consideration for the insurance contract issued by the defendant.

At the time of the fire, the condemnation proceedings were still pending, and the plaintiff still had legal title to the property, which did not pass to Salt Lake City until May, 1976. Section 78-34-15, U.C. (1953), provides:

"When payments have been made and the bond given, if the plaintiff elects to give one, as required by the last two preceding sections, the court must make a final judgment

of condemnation, which must describe the property condemned and the purpose of such condemnation. A copy of the judgment must be filed in the office of the recorder of the county, and thereupon the property described therein shall vest in the plaintiff for the purpose therein specified."

Under Section 78-34-14, U.C.A. (1953), and Section 78-34-16, U.C.A. (1953), it was possible on the date of the fire, that title would never have passed from the plaintiff, had the final award not been paid or the condemnation proceedings not been completed for any other reason. Such a possibility, even though remote, is enough to find an insurable interest in the owner.

A primary objection raised to the payment of the claim in this type of case, is that such payment would constitute double payment for the property and amount to a windfall to the plaintiff. Even if this were true, the previously cited cases declare that such a benefit to the plaintiff would not invalidate the insurance contract or void the insurance company's obligation to pay for the loss it agreed to insure against. In this case, however, such an allegation of double payment is not well founded, as a review of the pleadings in the condemnation case entered as evidence (Exhibit "A") in this case, particularly the Stipulation for Judgment and the Judgment, will show. The anticipated recovery under the insurance policy was basic to the settlement figure accepted by the plaintiff.

On the other hand, to disallow recovery by the plaintiff

would amount to a windfall to the insurance company, by allowing it to avoid payment for a loss which it voluntarily insured against, and for which it accepted and retained the premiums, simply because of the action of one not even a party to this lawsuit, creating a situation which plaintiff did not desire and over which he had no control.

CONCLUSION

Based upon all of the foregoing considerations, the trial court erred in finding that the plaintiff had no insurable interest in the building on the date it burned, and its judgment should be reversed and judgment granted to the plaintiff in the sum of \$20,000.00, the amount of coverage afforded under the policy issued by the defendant.