1977

J.O. Kingston v. Great Southwest Fire Insurance Company, A Corporation: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

has been condemned initially by the City but which no final award has been made. The answer to this question, however depends entirely upon the statutory law of Utah relating to insurable interest and eminent domain. For this reason, therefore, this case is unique in that this question has never been decided in the state of Utah interpreting these particular statutes.

The critical importance of the statutory procedure was recognized by the court of appeals of Kentucky in Patrick v. Kentucky Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company, 413 S.W.2d 340 (Ct. App. Ky. 1967) when it said:

We have considered the cases cited and have concluded that it would be pointless to extend this opinion by detailed discussion of them. It is apparent that the statutory provisions relating to eminent domain of the particular state involved are largely responsible for the results reached in these cases and, therefore, it is necessary that we consider the problem in the light of the Kentucky Statutes which are peculiar to the problem presented and contribute, in large measure, to the result reached. Id. at 343.

The applicable insurance statute is as follows. Section 31-19-4 of the Insurance Code specifically defines "insurable interest" in the following manner:

1. No contract of insurance on property or of any interest therein or arising therefrom, shall be enforceable except for the benefit of persons having an insurable interest in the thing insured.
2. "Insurable interest" as used in this

section means any lawful and substantial economic interest in the safety or preservation of the subject of the insurance free from loss, destruction, or pecuniary damage.

This Court has addressed itself to the question of an "insurable interest" of property destroyed by fire on two separate occasions. In Hill v. Safeco Insurance Company, 20 U.2d 96, 448 P.2d 915 (Utah 1969) this Court quoted with approval an authority which defined insurable interest of property as follows:

Generally speaking, a person has an insurable interest in property whenever he would profit by or gain some advantage by its continued existence and suffer some loss or disadvantage by its destruction. If he would sustain such loss, it is immaterial whether he has, or has not, any title in, or lien upon, or possession of, the property itself. Id. at p. 917, fn. 2 (Emphasis added).

In National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Company v. Thompson, 4 U.2d 7, 286 P.2d 249 (Utah 1955) this Court recognized that such an insurable interest is necessary to prevent a person having no interest in property except a potential gain from its destruction to gamble upon its loss.

Thus, it is clear what criteria should be used in determining an insurable interest and why such an interest must be shown. In this particular case it is necessary to thoroughly examine the eminent domain procedure in order to ascertain the interest which the condemning authority and the owner

in the condemned property.

Chapter 34 of Title 78 concerns the eminent domain procedure in Utah. Section 78-34-1 defines when the right of eminent domain may be exercised. There is no question in this case that the condemning of appellant's property was proper under the eminent domain statute.

Section 78-34-6 prescribes what elements the complaint must contain. This procedure was strictly followed by Salt Lake City. (Exhibit A, pp. 1-3).

Section 78-34-9 is entitled, "Occupancy of Premises Pending Action" and has been substantially amended in 1967 from the original 1943 version. The original provision allowed occupancy of condemned property upon payment of a bond "not less than double the value of the premises sought to be condemned and the damages which will ensue from condemnation". The original provision spoke in terms of a surety rather than an actual payment for the property taken.

The amended 1967 section allows occupancy of the premises and permission to perform "such work thereon as may be required" upon filing with the Clerk of the Court "a sum equivalent to at least 75 per cent of the condemning authorities' appraised valuation of the property sought to be condemned." The amended statute further provides interest at the rate of 8 per cent per annum to be applied to a formula

based upon whether the ultimate award of condemnation is greater or less than the initial deposit with the Clerk of the Court. This statute clearly speaks in terms of an actual payment for the value of the property since it is assumed the taking of the property has already occurred as stated in 78-34-11.

In the instant case Judge Croft entered an Order of Immediate Occupancy on August 12, 1975 requiring at least 75 per cent of the appraised value to be paid into the County Clerk Depository and restraining defendant from interfering with the occupation and work of the premises. One-hundred per cent of the appraised value was actually deposited.

Section 78-34-11 concerns when the right to damages have accrued. This section states the following:

For the purpose of assessing compensation and damages, the right thereto shall be deemed to have accrued at the date of the service of summons, and its actual value at that date shall be the measure of compensation for all property to be actually taken, and the basis of damages to property not actually taken, but injuriously affected, in all cases where such damages are allowed, as provided in the next preceding section. No improvements put upon the property subsequent to the date of service of summons shall be included in the assessment of compensation or damages. (Emphasis added).

This Court in Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Mits Investment Inc., 522 P.2d 1370 (Utah 1974) held that the v.

of condemned property is to be determined as of the date and under the circumstances existing at the time of the taking and that "ordinarily evidence of subsequent occurrences is not admissible as bearing thereon". Id. at 1372.

Thus, under this provision Salt Lake City was legally bound to pay plaintiff Kingston the value of the property at the time the complaint was served (July 14, 1975) regardless of any subsequent events either adding to or decreasing this value.

Section 78-34-15 essentially states that a court must make a final judgment of condemnation describing the property condemned and the purpose of such condemnation and that a copy of this judgment must be filed in the office of the Recorder of the County in which the property is located and "thereupon the property described therein shall vest in the plaintiff for the purpose therein specified".

Finally, Section 78-34-16 was substantially amended in 1967 thereby changing the title from "Possession by Plaintiff Pending Appeal of Further Proceedings--Deposit--Payment, Effect--" to the new title reading "Occupancy of Premises Pending Action--Substitution of Bond for Deposit Paid Into Court--Abandonment of Action by Condemnor". The new 1967 amendment added a specific provision concerning the effects of abandonment of the condemnation action by the condemning

authority. The new statute states:

Condemnor, whether a public or private body, may, at any time prior to final payment of compensation and damages awarded the defendant by the court or jury, abandon proceedings and cause the action to be dismissed without prejudice, provided, however, that as a condition of dismissal condemnor first compensate condemnee for all damages he has sustained and also reimburse him in full for all reasonable and necessary expenses actually incurred by condemnee because of the filing of the action by condemnor, including attorney's fees. (Emphasis added).

Applying this statutory scheme of eminent domain to the facts of this case patently shows that at the time of the fire Kingston had no insurable interest in the warehouse property. This conclusion is based on the following analysis.

When Kingston first purchased the property in 1971, he obviously had an insurable interest in it since, if the property were to be destroyed, the risk of loss would be borne entirely by him.

When the summons was served upon Kingston on July 14, 1975 the value which Kingston could claim for the property was limited to its worth as of that date. It was immaterial whether the value of the property went up or down subsequent to the service of the summons. At that point in time, it is doubtful that Kingston had any insurable interest in the property since he was guaranteed to be paid the full value of the property thus extinguishing any interest which he would

have in it. However, he still retained the right of possession and, under some cases of other jurisdictions, could still claim an insurable interest because of his possessory right.

On August 12, 1975 the Order of Immediate Occupancy was issued by Judge Croft and on August 14 a tender for the full amount of the appraised value was made to the Clerk of the district court. (Ex. A, pp. 30-33).

At this time, three critical events occurred: first, a judicial determination was made as to the value of the property subject to later modification; second, all rights of possession were lost by Kingston; and third, the risk of loss immediately passed to Salt Lake City Corporation.

The Kentucky Court of Appeals in Patrick v. Kentucky Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company, 413 S.W.2d 340 (Ct. App. Ky. 1967) explained the significance of this first element of judicial determination of market value. In referring to Kentucky statutes which allow a similar occupancy and payment into a court fund, the court stated:

Thus, it appears that prior to the destruction of the property, appellant had been paid an amount of money which represented a judicial determination of the fair market value of the insured property. This judicial determination was subject to appeal as to its amount, but it is also true that appellant was entitled to and was assured by operation of law that she would receive a judicially determined amount of money representing the fair market value of the property insured.

Since appellant had received a judicially determined amount of money representing the fair market value of the property prior to its destruction or loss and was not entitled to possession of the property at the time of this loss, then it would appear that she would not have an insurable interest in the property. . . . Id at 343.

As to the second element of possession, even though Kingston maintained some of his personal property in the building, the possession of the property was deemed to be that of the City. In City of Rochester v. Greenberg, 244 N.Y.S.2d 100 (Sup. Ct. 1963), the City had condemned real property and obtained an order directing the property owner "to deliver and surrender possession of the property to the City of Rochester on or before June 30, 1961". The property owner did not deliver possession and continued to collect rents from the property. Subsequently, the building collapsed.

The City contended that the owner remained in possession and control of the property and, therefore, that the correct valuation date was after the property had collapsed. The New York Court disagreed. The Court in that case stated:

I have concluded that the city in fact had possession on and after that date although Mrs. Greenberg collected the rents and I have concluded that the rents she did collect in fact are the property of the city and must be by her returned to the city.
Id. at 424.

Thus, the Order of Immediate Occupancy shifted the title to possession to the city and at the same time made it

mere tenant at will subject completely to the control of the city. A similar situation occurred in Van Cure v. Hartford Fire Insurance Company, 253 A.2d 663 (Pa. 1969). In that case, the condemning authority initiated a complaint against the property owner and obtained a court order allowing the condemning authority to enter the premises and take possession. At the same time, it tendered a \$37,000 bond into the clerk's depository. The authority permitted the property owner to remain in possession in order to reduce detention damages. A fire destroyed the premises subsequently. The court, in addressing itself to the possessory interest of the property owner, stated the following:

As for any other legal interest in appellant, the only plausible argument made is that her right of possession was interrupted by the fire. However, this right was not enforceable since she remained at the will of the Authority who could have her removed at any time. The Authority allowed her to remain in possession only because it suited its financial interests by reducing detention damages, and no court could order the Authority to continue her possession. Consequently, appellant possessed no legally enforceable interest that could support the policies of insurance. Id. at 666.

The third effect of the order of occupancy was an immediate shift of the risk of loss. The city under the statutory framework of eminent domain became responsible for the property condemnation, with its right of possession. In Chester Litho., Inc.

v. Palisades Interstate Park Commission, 317 N.Y.S.2d 761 (Ct. App. N.Y. 1971), a building was condemned by the Park Commission but the occupants were allowed to remain. Under the laws of New York, an order of immediate occupancy was required since the title passed upon the filing of the action. While the court relied upon the passing of title as its basis for the decision in that case, the language shows that the passing of the right to possession also transfers the risk. The court stated:

If this were a sale in fact, the risk would be upon the purchaser, here the appellants, under either the Uniform Vendor Purchaser Risk Act. . . or the common law. Pursuant to the more stringent statutory provision, the risk passes with either title or possession.

No unfair burden is placed upon appellants, for, if they intend to utilize a condemned building, they have an insurable interest for their protection. Id. at 762-763.

The court consequently held that the risk of loss of the building which was destroyed by fire was entirely borne by the condemnor-appellant. This is in accord with California law which states that the risk of loss to improvements remain on the owner until title, possession, or the right to possession is transferred to the condemnor. California Law Review Committee Recommendation and Study Relating to Taking Possession and Release of Title in Eminent Domain Proceedings, October, 1960, at B-17; see also Van Cure v. Hartford Fire Insurance Company

A.2d 663 (Pa. 1969) (After bond is filed, all risk of loss of condemned property passes to condemnor).

A further consequence occurred as a result of the Order of Immediate Occupancy. From that point on, Salt Lake City Corporation became responsible for the property, even in the event the condemnation proceeding was later abandoned. Section 78-34-16 allows abandonment, but specifically requires the condemnor to compensate the owner for all damages sustained because of the condemnation. Obviously, had the proceeding been subsequently abandoned, the city could not return to Kingston a burned out building without compensating him for his loss.

This Court on two occasions has held that a condemnor is liable for any damages occurring during the time of the condemnation when a subsequent abandonment has occurred. As stated by this Court:

The majority of the decisions hold that the rule that a municipality is not liable for damages sustained by the property owner resulting from the institutions of condemnation proceedings which are subsequently abandoned does not apply in instances of actual damage to the freehold, or when the condemnor takes possession of the property. Moyle v. Salt Lake City, 176 P.2d 882, 885 (Utah 1947) (Emphasis added).

See also North Salt Lake v. Saint Joseph Water and Irrigation Company, 233 P.2d 577 (Utah 1950).

216
This position is consistent with cases in other jurisdictions having similar statutes concerning abandonment. In City of Silverton v. Porter, 559 P.2d 1297 (Ct. App. Ore. 1977), the court stated "A condemnor which takes prejudgment possession of property and subsequently elects to abandon its condemnation action is liable in damages to the condemnor both for loss of use of the land and for physical injuries thereto." See also Johnson v. Climax Molybdenum Company, 18 P.2d 929 (Colo. 1942); Van Cure v. Hartford Fire Insurance Company, 253 A.2d 663, 667 (Pa. 1969). ("Appellant contends that since she may have her property returned to her, she has an interest in the preservation of that property. She errs in two respects. After a bond is filed, all risk of loss passes to the condemnor. If the Authority is to return the property, it must make her whole with respect to any damages and losses. Thus, appellant could not sustain any pecuniary loss."); 30 C.J.S. Eminent Domain, Section 339, p. 271.

Thus, it is obvious that the Order of Immediate Occupancy eliminated any insurable interest Kingston may have had prior to the entry of the order. The value that Kingston was to receive for the property was fixed regardless of whether the property was improved or destroyed. The fire could have no effect upon the ultimate condemnation award.

Likewise, while Kingston may have been using the building

as a "shelter and protection for the merchandise inside" (Appellant's brief, p. 12), such shelter is certainly not within the "substantial economic interest" requirement of the statute. His only economic interest was in the property contained in the building which was not insured under this policy. To hold otherwise would allow a tenant to insure his landlord's building or a trespasser to insure a building in which he sleeps at night. Such insignificant "interests" do not give rise to a recovery from insurance.

Finally, even had the entire condemnation proceeding been abandoned, Section 78-34-16 of the Utah Code specifically requires the condemning authority to make the owner whole once again. It goes without saying that Salt Lake City could not have abandoned the condemnation proceeding and turned the ruined building back to Kingston without compensating him for its diminished value.

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